
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

M IAM I DIVISION

CASE NO . 
-

18 U.S.C. j 371
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UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA,

HYUNJIN LERNER,

Defendant.

/

INDICTM ENT

The Grand Jury eharges that:

GENERAL ALLEGATION S

The D efendant and Relevant Entities

Bankrate, lnc. (stBankrate'') was a marketing and financial publishing company.

Bankrate aggregated and published information related to various consumer financial products
,

including m ortgages, credit cards, insurance, and automobile loans.

2. Bankrate owned and operated a num ber of websites that allowed potential

customers to compare and shop for different financial products. W hen a potential customer used

one of Bankrate's websites and showed interest in a particular financial product, Bankrate passed

the customer's inform ation along to the bank or financial services company that was offering the
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produd. In exchange for providing information about the potential eustomer to the company

offering the tinancial produd, Bankrate reeeived a paym ent from the eom pany. Bankrate called

the information it sold about the potential customer a itlead.'' Bankrate sold mortgage leads to

banks and m ortgage originators; insurance leads to regional and national insurance companies'
,

and credit card leads to various credit card originators.

Bankzate also generated revenue by selling financial inform ation, such as average

mortgage rates, directly to newspapers or other publishers, and through advertising on its websites.

4. Bankrate's principal offices were in North Palm Beach, Florida. Bankrate also

maintained oftices in New York, Denver,Colorado, and Austin, Texas. Bankrate employed

approximately 450 people who worked in three primary divisions'. (1) a mortgage infonuation

business, referred to internally as éiBankrate Core''' (2) tiBankrate Insurance,'' an insurance5

infonnation business',and (3) tûBankrate Credit Cardsn'' a credit card information business.

Bankrate's offices in Florida focused on the mortgage infonnation business.

5. Starting in or around June 201 1, Bankrate's stock was traded publicly on

NASDAQ, a national seeurities exehange, and was registered with the United States Seeurities and

Exchange Commission CtSEC''), an agency of the United States, pursuant to Section 12(b) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Bankrate's stock traded on NASDAQ under the ticker symbol

CSRATE.'' Bankrate reported that it earned approximately $424 million in total revenue in 201 1,

and approximately $457 million in total revenue in 2012. During the same period, Bankrate's

shares had a market capitalization value of approximately $1 billion.

From in or around Septem ber 2006 to in or around September 2014, the defendant

HYUNJIN LERNER selwed as Bankrate's Vice President of Finance. As Vice President of

Finance, LERNER reported directly to Bankrate's Chief Financial Ofiicer (tkCFO'') and>
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supervised other employees in the finance department. LERNER was also a certified public

accountant (k:CPA'').

Bankrate's Financial Rezulators and Auditors

The Seeurities and Exehance Comm ission

The SEC was an independent agency of the United States government charged by

1aw with preserving honest and efficient m arkets in securities. The federal securities laws
,

regulations, and rules were designed to ensure that the financial infonnation of publicly traded

companies was accurately recorded and disclosed to the investing public.

8. As a public company, Bankrate and its directors, officers, and employees were

required to comply with the federal securities laws, regulations, and rules, and to m ake and keep

books, records, and accounts, which in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly retlected the

revenue collected and expenses incurred by Bankrate.

Bankrate was also required to file annual reports (CtSEC Forms 10-K'') and quarterly

reports (StSEC Forms 10-Q'') with the SEC that contained audited financial statements that

accurately and fairly presented the financial condition of Bankrate, as well as other reports that

contained information about Bankrate's management, Board of Directors, business operations
, and

perform ance. Through these reports, Bankrate diselosed its finaneial infonnation to the SEC,

Bankrate's shareholders, and the investing public.

10. Bankrate also disclosed its tinancial infonnation to its shareholders and the

investing public through other m eans, including through press releases
, shareholder m eetings,

earnings calls, and earnings announcements.

1 l . Securities laws, as well as the SEC'S regulations and nzles for public companies
,

required that Bankrate, among other things, make and keep books, records
, and accounts that
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accurately and fairly reflected the transactions and disposition of the company's assets and

prohibited the knowing falsifieation of Bankrate's books, records, or accounts.

Bankrate's Auditors

l2. An auditor is an independent certified public aecountant who examines the tinancial

statem ents that a company's m anagement has prepared. Federal securities laws
, regulations, and

rules required that an independent auditor examine and report on the financial infonnation that

Bankrate provided to the SEC and the investing public.

From in or around 201 1 and continuing through 2014, a known public accounting

fil'm CtAccounting Firm A'') with offiees in Miami, Ft. Lauderdale, and elsewhere, acted as the

independent auditor of Bankrate's financial statements. Accounting Firm A relied on LERNER

and other Bankrate employees in the finance department to provide truthful and accurate

infonnation about Bankrate's internal accounting practices and policies. Accounting Firm A

obtained infonnation from LERNER and other Bankrate employees through phone calls,

meetings, and questions submitted via electronic mail.In addition, LERNER provided written

assurances and representations to Accounting Firm A that, am ong other things, LERNER was not

aware ksof any infonnation indieating that an illegal ad, or violations or possible violations of any

regulations, hakdl or may have occurred, whether or not perceived to have a material effeet on the

interim financial statements,'' and that LERNER had ûûno knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud

affecting the Com pany involving.. . M anagement.''

Based in part on these written representations from LERNER and other Bankrate

employees, Accounting Finu A would also offer an opinion as to whether Bankrate's annual

tinancial statements fairly presented, in all material respects, Bankrate's tinancial position.
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Accounting Firm A's opinion was filed contemporaneously with Bankrate's armual report to the

SEC and was publicly available to investors and the investing public.

Bankrate Publicized GAdiusted EPS'' and HAdiusted EBITDA'' M etrics

l 5. In addition to quarterly and annual reports that contained
, among other things,

Bankrate's purported revenue, earnings per share (tûEPS'') and earnings before interest, taxes,5

depreciation, amortization (CIEBITDA''), Bankrate also provided investors with itadjusted''

eamings calculations which were purportedly adjusted to exclude only certain identified expenses,

gains and losses.

16. Bankrate would claim publicly that when the company reported dtAdjusted EPS''

and tiAdjusted EBITDA'' figures, it meant that Bankrate had adjusted these eanzings metrics to

only exclude ilstock based compensation expense, offering and deal related expenses and

amortization expense.''

ln addition to ineluding adjusted earnings figures in Bankrate's quarterly and

annual financial reports, Bankrate also published adjusted earnings figures in regular press

releases, and Bankrate's management discussed adjusted earnings figures in calls with analysts

and investors. In Bankrate's press releases, Bankrate would deseribe the adjusted earnings metrics,

including Adjusted EPS and Adjusted EBITDA, as having been provided, in part, ttto enhance

investors' overall understanding of Bankrate's current tinancial performance and its prospects for

the future.''

Bankrate's Expense Accruals

18. Under the relevant aecounting rules, on a quarterly and yearly basis, Bankrate was

required to m ake a good faith estimate of the eosts to Bankrate assoeiated with certain expenses
,

such as legal and accounting fees, and then reduce Banlkrate's earnings by the am ount of that
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estim ate. At Banltrate, the am ount of this estim ate was referred to as an dtexpense accrual.'' Any

inerease in Bankrate's expense atxruals caused a deerease in eam ings. Conversely, any decrease

in Bankrate's expense accruals caused an increase in earnings. LERNER and other Bankrate

employees in the finance department had the responsibility to decide when and whether to increase

or decrease Bankrate's expense accruals. Bankrate was required to provide its quarterly and annual

expense accrual calculations to Accounting Finn A.

CO UNT 1

Conspiracy to Com mit W ire Fraud

Falsify Books, Records, and Accounts of a Public Company, and
M ake False Statem ents to a Public Com pany's Accountants

(18 U.S.C. j 371)

The General Allegations seetion of this Indidment is realleged and ineorporated by1.

reference as though fully set forth herein.

From in or around at least 201 1, through in or around at least September 2014, in

M inm i-Dade, Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southern District of Florida
, and

elsewhere, the defendant,

HYUNJIN LERNER ,

did willfully, that is, with the intent to further the objects of the conspiracy, and knowingly

combine, conspire, and agree with other individuals known and unknown
, to comm it certain

offenses against the United States, nnmely:

a.

and intending to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud, and to obtain money and property by

means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowing sueh

to knowingly and willfully, and with the intent to defraud, having devised

pretenses, representations, and promises were false and fraudulent when made, transmit and cause

to be transmitted, by means of wire communications in interstate and foreign comm erce
, writings,

6
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signs, signals, pidures, and sounds, for the purposes of exeeuting sueh seheme and artifice
, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343;

b. to knowingly and willfully falsify, and cause to be falsified, books, records,

and accounts required to, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of Bankrate, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78m(b)(2),

78m(b)(5), and 78ff; and

to knowingly and willfully, directly or indirectly: (a) make or cause to be

made materially false or misleading statements to Aecounting Firm A, or omit to state, or cause

another person to omit to state, any m aterial fact to Accounting Finn A necessary in order to make

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made
, not

misleading; or (b) take action to coerce, manipulate, mislead, or fraudulently influence Accounting

Finn A knowing that such action, if successful, could result in rendering Bankrate's financial

statements materially misleading, in connection with Accounting Fil'm A's review of Bankrate's

finandal statements and preparation of Bankrate's quarterly and annual reports required to be filed

with the SEC, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sedion 78ff, and Title 17, Code of

Federal Regulation, Section 240.13b2-2(a) and 240.1 3b2-2(b).

PURPO SE O F THE CO NSPIM CY

The purpose ofthe conspiracy was for LEM ER andhis co-conspirators to mislead

Banltrate's shareholders, regulators, independent auditors, and the investing public in order to: (a)

maintain and increase the market priee of Bankrate's stock; and (b) unjustly enrich LERNER and

his co-conspirators through the continued receipt of compensation, stock and other benefits.
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M ANNERS AND M EANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

Overview of the Conspiracv

4. From in or around at least 201 1, through in or around at least September 2014
,

LERNER and others agreed to (a) defraud Bankrate' s shareholders and the investing public, and

(b) mislead Bankrate's independent auditors and regulators, by making and causing others to make

false and misleading statements about Bankrate's financial condition.

M anipulation of Bankrate's Expense Accruals

LERNER and his co-conspirators m aintained a spreadsheet that documented and

tracked umweessary and unsupported expense aeeruals, whieh they used to manipulate Bankrate's

ûnancial statem ents. The spreadsheet - which LERNER and his eo-conspirators referred to as

ticushion'' - contained hundreds of thousands of dollars of purported expense accnlals for which

there was no justitkation or support. Rather than reduee Bankrate's improperly recorded expense

accruals immediately, LERNER and his co-conspirators would selectively reverse hundreds of

thousands of dollars in expense accruals in later quarters as a means of controlling and inflating

Bankrate's earnings and financial perfonnance.

6. For exnmple, in or around April 2012, while Bankrate was preparing its quarterly

financial statements, one of LERNER'S co-conspirators told LERNER via an interstate wire that

he tkneedgedj all the accrual overage'' because he iûneedgedl to tune the numbers up closer to $38

gmillion in reported earningsl.'' LERNER responded that tiwe have $ l .7 gmillionj,'' meaning that

there was $ l .7 million in t'cushion'' available to reverse and inflate Banltrate's eamings.

Approxim ately two hours later, LERNER instruded another Bankrate em ployee in the aceounting

department to reverse approximately $500,000 of the $1.7 million in available ûicushion.
''

8

Case 1:17-cr-20235-KMM   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 03/29/2017   Page 8 of 25



ln addition, in order to manage and build the tûcushion'' spreadsheet and ensure that

expense aecruals were available to inflate Bankrate's earnings in later quarters, LERNER and his

co-conspirators would also not reduee expense aeeruals even when they knew the accrual was

unnecessary and unsupported. For example, in or around January 2012, LERNER was notified

that Bankrate had received an invoice for approximately $135,000 in legal expenses from a 1aw

finn. LERNER asked another Bankrate employee how much had been accrued for the expense,

and the employee responded to LERNER that Bankrate had accrued $253,000. Rather than

updating Bankrate's financial statements based on the actual invoice they had received
, LERNER

instead told the Bankrate employee tûcool. . .we are not reversing the accrual.'' LERNER gave

this direction in order to improperly build the Skeushion'' and save the unneeessary and unsupported

accrual to inflate earnings in later quarters.

8. Similarly, in or around January 2012, LERNER and one of his co-conspirators

received an analysis indicating that Bankrate needed to reverse approximately $ 1.5 million in

expense accruals. Instead, LERNER and one of his co-conspirators directed other Bankrate

employees in the finanee department to only reverse approximately $800,000 in aecruals, meaning

that approximately $700,000 in unneeessary and unsupported accruals were saved as kéeushion''

for use in intlating earnings in later quarters.

9.

M anipulation of Bankrate's Publicly Reported Adiusted Eanzings

As described above, Bankrate represented to the investing public that when it

reported Adjusted EBIDTA and Adjusted EPS, these figures were only adjusted by excluding

eertain expenses, which Bankrate identitied as çûstock based eompensation expense, offering and

deal related expenses and am ortization expense.'' However, in eontrast to what Bankrate was

reporting publicly, LERNER and his co-conspirators manipulated Bankrate's Adjusted EPS and
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Adjusted EBITDA figures by directing Bankrate's finance department to improperly book routine

fees and expenses as tideal related expenses'' or itdeal costs.'' By intentionally adding routine

expenses to the ûûdeal eosts'' alxount, LERNER and his eo-eonspirators eaused m ore expenses to

be excluded from Banltrate's publicly reported adjusted earnings figures than was disclosed to

investors, and caused Bankrate's publicly reported Adjusted EPS and Adjusted to be fraudulently

inflated.

For example, in or around M arch 2012, LERNER and his co-conspirators received

an invoice from Accounting Firm A for approximately $400,000 in routine audit fees. Upon

receipt of the invoiee from Accounting Firm A, one of LERNER'S co-conspirators instructed

LERNER to improperly book the entire am ount of the invoice to Bankrate's kûdeal eosts'' aeeount.

LERNER'S co-conspirator further instructed LERNER that he did not care if Accounting Finn

A discovered the improper entry and itcomplaingedl,'' because they couldjustify the entry later by

falsely claim ing tdit was a mistake.''

Sim ilarly, in or around M arch 2012, a Bankrate employee asked LERNER where

to book expenses for routine work perform ed by Accounting Firm B.LERNER responded that,

for the entirety of 20l 1, one of his co-conspirators had instructed him to improperly book all of

Accounting Finn B's expenses- including the expenses related to Bankrate's routine annual

financial reporting requirements- to Bankrate's kûdeal costs'' account. LERNER further

described the direction he received from his co-conspirator to book a1l of Accounting Firm B's

fees to Bankrate's ltdeal costs'' account as lûAnother gfirst name of co-conspirator) Special.''

10
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Manipulation of Bankrate's Financial Statements Throuch lmproper Expense and Revenue

Adiustments

ThToughout 2011 and 2012, LERNER and his co-conspirators m anipulated

Bankrate's fnancial statements by making a series of false and misleading entries and adjustments

to Bankrate's revenue and expense accounts. Often these entries were made by LERNER and his

eo-conspirators as Bankrate was in the midst of preparing its quarterly tinaneial statements, and

for the purpose of hitting a revenue or ealmings target.

13. For example, in or around July 20 1 1 in the midst of preparing Bankrate's second

quarter financial statements, one of LERNER'S co-conspirators stated that he ttm ay want to tune

our ntlmbers to $30 gmillionl even ebitda.'' LERNER responded that it was iûno problem getting

to $30 million,'' and suggested that they reduce a previously booked expense by $150,000 çûto get

there.'' LERNER'S co-eonspirator responded to LERNER tûok go ahead - make it just over $30

glnillionj .''

14.

LERNER to make an improper and unsupported adjustment to a financial report that was being

prepared for Bankrate's Board of Directors, and to Ctkeep it under the radar please.'' LERNER

Similarly, in or around June 2012,one of LERNER'S co-conspirators told

responded by agreeing to make the adjustment.

15. As another example, in or around July 2012 during the preparation of the quarterly

financial statements, one of LERNER'S eo-conspirators told LERNER tûgwle have to get to 14 in

ebitda for June $37 for the quarter.'' LERNER responded by instructing other Bankrate employees

to reverse $180,000 in previously booked expenses without anyjustification or support.

16. In addition, in or around July 2012, after reviewing Bankrate's quarterly financial

results, LERNER and his eo-conspirators improperly booked hundreds of thousands of dollars in

revenue without any justification or support. Thereafter, on or about July 31, 2012, Bankrate

11
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reported its Adjusted EBIDTA for the quarter as$37.5 million and Adjusted EPS of $0.18,

surpassing m any analysts' forecasts for the quarter.

Coneealinc False and M isleadinz Entries from  Aecountinz Firm A

LERNER and his co-conspirators concealed the false and misleading entries they

had made and caused to be m ade from Accounting Finn A and others.

18. For exnmple, in or around February 201 1, LERNER sent an email to two of his co-

conspirators with thesubject CtFirst cushion found by (Accounting Firm A1.'' ln the email,

LERNER indicated that he had explained falsely the ûlcushion'' to Accounting Firm A as being

supported by expeded legal fees for which Bankrate had yet to receive a bill. Starting in or around

20l l , later versions of the klcushion'' spreadsheet sent and received by LERNER and his co-

conspirators contained an additional column titled SûgAccounting Firm Aj ldentified,'' which

LERNER and his co-conspirators used to keep track of ilcushion'' that had been discovered by

Accounting Finn A.

ln or azound March 201 1, after LERNER sent one of his co-conspixators a version

of the ûtcushion'' spreadsheet, LERNER'S co-conspirator told LERNER that he was concem ed

that some of the eomments in a version of the spreadsheet might alert Accounting Firm A that the

expense accruals were unsupported, and chastised LERNER that itgpjeople really have to start

using their brains, sometimes I really wonder. OK why not just write ûl-ley gAccounting Firm Aj

-  this entry is cushion, please propose an adjusting entry,''' and that he t'really expectgedl this stuff

to be managed better.'' LERNER responded by assuring his co-conspirator that the ûtschedule was

never shared with gAccounting Finn A1'' and that it was çlpurely an intenml document.''

20. As described above, in or around January 2012, LERNER and one of his co-

conspirators received a spreadsheet indicating that Bankrate needed to reverse approximately $1.5

12
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million in unsupported expense accruals. Before sending the spreadsheet to Accounting Firm A,

LERNER removed from the spreadsheet entries totaling $700,000, thereby concealing the

$700,000 in dteushion'' from Aecounting Firm A so it would be available for use in later quarters.

Instead, LERNER sent a version of the spreadsheet to Accounting Finu A which m ade it appear

that there were only $800,000 in expense accruals that had been found and reversed.

Approxim ately one week later, LERNER sent a Bankrate em ployee in the finance department an

email with the subject klgfirst name of co-conspiratorl's Cushion - Save this Email - Don't Share

this with Anyone,'' and attaching a spreadsheet itemizing the $700,000 in ktcushion'' that had been

concealed from Accounting Firm A .

2 1 . ln or around July 2012, after reviewing Bankrate's quarterly financial results
,

Accounting Finn A questioned one of the entries by which LERNER and his co-conspirators had

improperly booked hundreds of thousands of dollars in revenue without any justification or

support. Before responding to Accounting Firm A, LERNER and another Bankrate employee

discussed that they needed to tdstal't figuring out an explanation for these.'' Thereafter, LERNER

created a new explanation for the questioned entry, and sent the explanation to Accounting Firm

A . Afler LERNER sent the explanation to M eounting Firm A, LERNER was infonned by two

Bankrate employees that the explanation could not justify the entry.LERNER did not disdose

this infonnation to Accounting Finn A, or retract his priorjustification.

Lerner Sold His Bankrate Stock after Participating in the M anipulation of Bankrate's Financial

Statem ents

22. On or about August 6, 2012, LERNER sold approxim ately 1
,103 long shares and

exereised 8,125 options of Bankrate stoek, realizing gross proeeeds of approximately $167,000.

13
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OVERT ACTS

ln furtherance of the conspiracy and to achieve its objects and purpose, at least one

of the co-conspirators comm itted and caused to be comm itted, in the Southern District of Florida,

and elsewhere, the following overt acts, am ong others:

24. On or about July l 8, 201 1, LERNER

improperly reduce Bankrate's expenses by $150,000.

directed another Bankrate employee to

On or about January 25, 2012, LERNER directed another Bankrate em ployee not

to reduce an unnecessary and unsupported expense accnzal in order to save the accrual for use as

a Etcushion'' to intlate Bankrate's earnings in later periods.

26. On or about January 26, 2012, LERNER received an em ail showing that Bankrate

had approximately $ 1.5 million in unnecessary and unsupported expense accruals. On the

following day, LERNER directed Bankrate employees to only reverse approximately $800,000

of the accnlals, so that $700,000 would remain for use as Cûcushion'' to inflate Bankrate's earnings

in later periods.

On or about January 27, 2012, LERNER agreed with one of his co-conspirators to

try and delay Bankrate's expected receipt of an invoice from a 1aw 514,1,1 in order to m aintain over

$100,000 of 'ûcushion'' that could be used to intiate Bankrate's earnings in later periods.

28. On or about February 6, 2012, LERNER sent a Bankrate employee in the finance

department an email with the subject itgfirst name of co-conspiratorj's Cushion - Save this Email

-  Don't Share this with Anyone,'' and attaching a spreadsheet itemizing $700,000 in ûtcushion.''

On or about M arch 9, 2012, LERNER agreed w ith one of his co-conspirators to

falsely and fraudulently book Accounting Firm A 's routine audit fees to Bankrate's ûûdeal costs''

account.

14
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30. On or about April 9, 2012, one of LERNER'S co-conspirators directed LERNER

and other Bankrate employees to im properly book various routine 'tdeal costs ''expenses as ,

including $40,000 of expenses charged by Accounting Firm B.

31. On or about July 6, 2012, LERNER discussed with one of his co-conspirators a

plan to reverse approximately $100,000 in previously booked expenses without any support or

justification.

32. On or about July 6, 2012, LERNER directed Bankrate employees via an interstate

wire to reverse approximately $180,000 in previously booked expenses without any support or

justification.

33. On or about

representation letter to Accounting Finn A in which he falsely and fraudulently represented that

August 13, 2012, LERNER signed Bankrate's m anagement

LERNER had ûûmade available gto Accounting Firm A1 all. . .ltlinancial records and related data,''

that he was not aware tkof any information indicating that an illegal act, or violations or possible

violations of any regulations, hagdl or may have occurred, whether or not perceived to have a

m aterial effect on the interim tinancial statem ents,'' and that he had tino knowledge of fraud or

suspected fraud affecting the Company involving. . . M anagem ent.''

34. On or about November 14, 2012, LERNER signed Bankrate's m anagement

representation letter to Accounting Firm A in which LERNER falsely and fraudulently

represented that he had l'made available (to Accounting Firm A1 all. . . (flinancial records and

related data,'' and that he had ûtno knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Company

involving. . . M anagem ent.''

35. On or about M arch

representation letter to Accounting Firm A in which LERNER falsely represented that he had

2013, LERNER signed Bankrate's m anagem ent
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kûmade available gto Accounting Firm A1 all. . . (tlinancial records and related data,'' that ktthere

gwerel no. . .gvliolations or possible violations of laws or regulations, whose effects should be

considered for disclosure on the financial statements,'' and that he had iéno knowledge of fraud or

suspected fraud affecting the Com pany involving. . . M anagement.''

36. On or about M arch 1, 2013, LERNER and his co-conspirators caused Bankrate to

file its Fonn l0-K for 2012, with the SEC.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

CO UNTS 2-4
W ire Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1343)

The General Allegations section and Paragraphs 5 through 36 of Count 1 of this

lndictment are realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

2. From at least in or around 201 1, through in or around September 2014, in M iam i-

Dade, Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the

defendant,

HYUNJIN LERNER,

did knowingly and with the intent to defraud, devise and intend to devise, a schem e and artifice to

defraud, and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,

representations, and promises, knowing such pretenses, representations, and prom ises were false

and fraudulent when made, and for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice to defraud,

did knowingly transm it and cause to be transm itted, by m eans of wire com munication in interstate

and foreign comm erce, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds.

16
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PURPOSE OF THE SCHEM E AND ARTIFICE

The purpose of the scheme was for LERNER and his accomplices to mislead

Bankrate's shareholders, regulators, independent auditors, and the investing public in order to: (a)

maintain and increase the market price of Bankrate's stock; and (b) enrich LERNER and others

through the continued receipt of compensation, stock and other benefits.

TH E SCHEM E AND ARTIFICE

Paragraphs 5 through 22 of Count 1 of this4.

incop orated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

lndictment are realleged and

5.

USE OF THE W IRES
% 'u;F
' 

YIJNJIN LERNER for #$L. .On or about the dates specitied as to each count below, N ,

the pup ose of executing the aforesaid schem e and artifice to defraud, did knowingly transm it and

cause to be transm itted, by means of wire com munications in interstate and foreign comm erce,

certain writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, as more particularly described below:

Count Approximate Description of lnterstate W ire Com m unication

Date

2 M ay 1, 2012 National press release announcing Bankrate's financial results

for the first quarter of 20 12

3 July 6, 2012 Email from LERNER, in Denver, to one or more Bankrate

employees in Florida, discussing a fraudulent accounting

entry

4 July 31, 2012 National press release announcing Bankrate's financial results

for the second quarter of 2012

In violation of Title l 8, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2.

COUNT 5

Securities Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1348)

The General Allegations section and Paragraphs 5 through 36 of Count 1 of this

lndictment are realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.
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From at least 201 1, the exact date being unknown to the Grand Jul'y, through

September 2014, in M iami-Dade, Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southern District of

Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

H YUNJIN LERNER,

did knowingly and willfully execute a scheme and artifice (a) to defraud any person in connection

with any security of Bankrate, an issuer with a class of securities registered under Section 12 of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. j 78/), and (b) to obtain, by means of materially

false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises,and by statements containing

material omissions, any money and property in connection with the purchase and sale of any

security of Bankrate, an issuer with a class of securities registered under Section 12 of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (l5 U.S.C. j 78/), to wit, LERNER and others made, and caused

to be made, false and m isleading representations to Bankrate's shareholders and members of the

investing public about Bankrate's true tinancial condition.

Count A roxim ate Date Descri tion of Event

5 M arch 1, 2013 SEC Form  10-K for 2012.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1348 and 2.

COUNTS 6-9

False Entries in a Public Com pany's Books, Records, and Accounts

(15 U.S.C. jj 78m(b)(5), 78m(b)(2), and 78ff(a))

Paragraphs l through 18 of the General Allegations section and Paragraphs 5

through 36 of Count 1 of this lndictm ent are realleged and incorporated by reference as though

fully set folh herein.
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2. From at least in or around June 20l l , through in or around September 2014, in

M iami-Dade, Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southern District of Florida, and

elsewhere, the defendant,

HYUNJIN LERNER,

did knowingly and willfully falsify and cause to be falsitied books, records, and accounts required

to, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly retlect the transactions and dispositions of Bankrate,

as more particularly described below:

Count A roxim ate Date Descri tion of Falsified Book, Record, or Account

6 April 9, 2012 Expenses booked to Bankrate's ûldeal costs'' account

7 July 6, 2012 Reversal of Bankrate's previously booked expense accrual

8 July l 1, 2012 Revenue booked to a custom er in Bankrate's lnsurance

Division

9 July l2, 2012 Revenue booked to a customer in Bankrate's M ortgage

Division

In violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78m(b)(2), 78m(b)(5), and 78ff(a);

and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

COUNTS 10-12

False Statem ents to Accountants

(17 C.F.R. j 240.13b2-2 and 15 U.S.C. j 78ff(a))

The General Allegations section and Paragraphs 5 through 36 of Count l of this

Indictment are realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

From at least in or around June 201 1, tlzrough in or around M arch 2013, in M iam i-

Dade, Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southern District of Florida and elsewhere, the

defendant,

H YUNJIN LERNER,

did knowingly and willfully, directly and indirectly (a) make and cause to be made materially false

or m isleading statem ents to Accounting Finn A, and om it to state, and cause another person to
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omit to state, any m aterial fact to Accounting Firm A necessary in order to m ake statements m ade,

in light of the cireumstances under whieh sueh statements were made, not misleading; and (b) take

adion to coeree, m anipulate, mislead, and fraudulently influenee Aecounting Firm A knowing that

such action, if successful, could result in rendering Bankrate's tinancial statements m aterially

misleading, in connection with Accounting Finn A's review of Bankrate's financial statements

and preparation of Bankrate's quarterly and annual reports required to be filed with the SEC, as

m ore particularly described below :

Count A roximate Date Descri tion of False Ent or Statem ent

l 0 August 13, 2012 Bankrate management representation letter signed by

LERNER and sent to Accounting Finn A

l 1 November 14, 2012 Bankrate management representation letter signed by

LERNER and sent to Accounting Finu A

12 March l , 2013 Bankrate management representation letter signed by

LERNER and sent to Accounting Finn A

In violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal

Regulation, Sections 240.13b2-24a) and 240.13b2-2(b); and Title l 8, United States Code, Section

2.

FO RFEITURE

(18 U.S.C. j 981(a)(1)(C))

The allegations of this lndictment are re-alleged and incop orated by reference as

though fully set forth herein for the purpose of alleging forfeiture to the United States of certain

property in which the defendant, HYUNJIN LERNER, has an interest.

Upon conviction of a violation of Title l 8, United States Code, Section 371, and/or

a violation of, or a conspiracy to violate, Title 18, United States Code, Sections including l 343,

1348, and, Title 15, United States Code, Section 78ff and, Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations,

Part 240.13b2-2, as alleged in this lndictm ent, the defendant so convicted shall forfeit to the United

States pursuant to Title l 8, United States Code, Section 98 1(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States
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Code, Section 2461, all property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds

traceable to the comm ission of such violation.

Substitute Assets Provision

3. If any of the above described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or om ission

of the defendant:

cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence',

has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

2)

4)

5)

has been substantially dim inished in value;

or has been com mingled with other property which calm ot be subdivided

without difticulty;

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), made

applicable by Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), to seek forfeiture of any other property

of said defendant up to the value of the above forfeitable property.
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All pursuant to Title l 8, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and the provisions of

Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, m ade applicable by Title 28, United States Code,

Section 246l(c).

A TRUE BILL

FOREPERSON

l n .k=
BENJAM IN G. GREENBERG

ACTING UN ITED STA TES ATTORN EY

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

ANDREw  w ElssM A ,Nx CHIEF

FRAIJD s c'rlox, CRIM INAL slox

x P. vAx Dvc ,K Assls'rA T F
L. Rusl-l A'rltm sox , TRIAL ATTO

EM ILY SCRUGGS, TRIAL ATTORNEY

FRAUD SECTIO ,N CRIM W AL DIVISION

U. s. DEPARTM EN T OF JUSTICE
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

HYUNJIN LERNER,

Defendant.
/

Court Division: (select one)

X Miami Key W est
FTL W PB FTP

I do hereby certify that:

New Defendantls)
Number of New Defendants
Total number of counts

CASE NO.

CERTIFICATE OF TRIAL ATTORNEY*

Superseding Case lnformation:

Yes No

I have carefully considered the allegations of the indictment, the number of defendants, the number of

probable witnesses and the Iegal complexities of the Indictment/lnformation attached hereto.

I am aware that the information supplied on this statement will be relied upon by the Judges of this Court in
setting their calendars and scheduling criminal trials under the mandate of the Speedy Trial Act, Title 28
U.S.C. Section 3161.

Interpreter: (Yes or No) N-o-
List Ianguage and/or dialect

This case will take 15 days for the parties to try.

Please check appropriate category and type of offense Iisted below:

3.

6. Has this case been previously filed in this District Court? (Yes or No) No
If yes:
Judge: Case No.
(Attach copy of dispositive order)
Has a complaint been filed in this matter? (Yes or No)
If yes:
Magistrate Case No.
Related M iscellaneous numbers:
Defendantts) in federal custody as of
Defendantts) in state custody as of
Rule 20 from the Dlstrlct o

Is this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No) No

0 to 5 days
6 to 10 days
11 to 20 days
21 to 60 days
61 days and over

X

Petty
M inor
M isdem.
Felony

Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Northern Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office prior to
October 14, 2003? Yes X No

Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorn s Office prior to
September 1, 2007? Yes X No

I

A  .

RY P AN DYCK
DOJ ASSISTANT CHIEF
Court No. A5501507

*penalty Sheetts) attached REV 4/8/08

8.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT O F FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: HYUNJIN LERNER

Case No:

Count #:

18 U.S.C. ï 371

Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud, FalsiW Books. Records. and Accounts of a Public

Com pany. and M ake False Statements to a Public Com pany's Accountants

frM ax Penaltv: Five (5) vears' imprisonment

Counts #:

*M ax Penaltv: Twentv (20) vears' imprisonment as to each count

Count #:

18 U.S.C. $ 1348

Sectzrities Fraud

*Max Penaltv: Twentv-five (25) vears' imprisonment

Counts #:

l 5 U.S.C. ii 78m(b)(5). 78m(b)(2). and 78ff(a)

False Entries in a Public Companv's Bookss Records and Accounts

''Max Penaltv: Twentv (20) vears' imprisonment as to each count
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT CO URT

SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e) H YUNJIN LERNER

Counts #: 10 - 12

17 C.F.R. ô 240.13b2-2

15 U.S.C. # 78ff(a)

False Statements to Accountants

*Max Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisonment as to each count

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,

special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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